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Phison Electronics Corporation 
Meeting Procedure of 2025 Annual Shareholders’ 

Meeting 
 

 1. Call the Meeting to order 

 2. Chairman's Remarks 

 3. Report Items 

 4. Proposals to accept 

 5. Discussion Proposals 

 6. Extemporary Motions 

 7. Adjournment 
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Phison Electronics Corporation 
Agenda of 2025 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 

(Translation) 
 
Convention Method: Physical shareholders’ meeting 
Meeting time: 9 a.m., Tuesday, May 27, 2025 
Venue: No. 1 Qunyi Road, Zhunan Township, Miaoli County (located in Guangyuan 

Technology Park) 
Meeting chairman: Mr. Wee Kuan Gan, Chairman of the Board 

1. Meeting Chairman's Remarks 

2. Report Items 

Case No. 1: The Company's 2024 Business Report. 
Case No. 2: The Company's Audit Committee’s Review Report. 
Case No. 3: Report on 2024 Employees’ compensation and Directors’ remuneration 

Distribution. 
Case No. 4: Report on 2024 earnings distribution. 
Case No. 5: Report on the issuance of domestic unsecured convertible corporate 

bonds. 
Case No. 6: Report on the actual handling situation of the private placement of 

common shares approved by 2024 annual shareholders’ meeting. 
Case No. 7: Report of the Company's Investment in Mainland China. 

3. Proposals to accept 

Case No. 1: To accept the Company's 2024 Business Report and Financial Statements. 
Case No. 2: To accept the Company's 2024 earning distribution. 
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4. Discussion Proposals 

Case No. 1: The Company propose to conduct the private placement of common 
shares. 

Case No. 2: Amendment to part of the Articles of “Articles of Incorporation”. 

5. Extemporary Motions 

6. Adjournment 
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Report Items 
 
Case No. 1: (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: The Company's 2024 Business Report. 
Explanation: For the Company’s 2024 business report, please refer to Attachment 1 on 

page 17 to 21 of this handbook. 
 
 
 
Case No. 2: (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: The Company's Audit Committee’s Review Report. 
Explanation: For the Audit Committee's Review Report of 2024 Financial Statements, 

please refer to Attachment 2 on page 22 of this handbook. 
 
 
 
Case No. 3: (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: Report on 2024 Employees’ compensation and Directors’ remuneration 

Distribution. 
Explanation: 1. According to Article 19 of the Articles of Incorporation of the 

Company, “If the Company makes profits in the year, it shall 
appropriate 8% to 19% for employees' compensation and no more 
than 1.5% for directors’ remuneration”. 

2. In the year of 2024, the Company earned NT$10,372,831,564 (the 
amount represents the pre-tax profit before deducting of employees' 
compensation and directors' remuneration), and it intends to distribute 
NT$1,000,000,000 from 2024’s profits for employees' compensation 
(about 9.64% of the profits for the year 2024) and NT$35,000,000 for 
directors’ remuneration (about 0.34% of the profits for the year 2024), 
all in cash. 
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Case No. 4: (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: Report on 2024 earnings distribution. 
Explanation: Pursuant to the Company Act and the Articles of Incorporation of the 

Company, the surplus earning distribution of the Company may be 
proposed at the close of each half fiscal year. If the surplus earning 
distribution is distributed in cash, the Board of Directors is authorized to 
adopt a resolution to distribute the surplus earning. The implementation 
of the Company’s surplus earning distribution in the form of cash 
dividends of 2024: 

2024 

Date of the 
resolution of the 

Board 
(month/day/year) 

Date of 
distribution 

(month/day/year) 

Cash dividend 
per share 

(NT$) 

Total amount of 
cash dividend 

(NT$) 

H1 08/14/2024 02/07/2025 13.12356282 
(Note 2) 2,701,063,197 

H2 03/07/2025 Not yet decided 12 
(Note 3) 2,471,061,936 

Total 5,172,125,133 

Note 1: Cash dividends were approved by the Board of Directors and to be reported at the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Note 2: The actual cash dividend per share was adjusted, as authorized by the Board of 
Directors, based on the number of actual total shares outstanding on the Base Day for 
cash dividend distribution.  

Note 3: The amount distributed was based on the Company's actual total number of 
205,921,828 outstanding shares as of Jan 31, 2025, and the proposed cash dividend per 
share is NT$12. The actual cash dividend per share shall be subject to adjustment based 
on the number of actual total shares outstanding on the Base Day for cash dividend 
distribution. The cash dividends are calculated up to NT$1. Decimal points are rounded 
down and the uncounted shares in fractions of NT$1 shall be transferred to the 
Company’s Employee Benefits Committee. 
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Case No. 5: (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: Report on the issuance of domestic unsecured convertible corporate bonds. 
Explanation: The implementation of the Domestic Unsecured Convertible Corporate 

Bonds of the Company are as follows: 

Name 

Phison Electronics Corporation 
First Domestic Unsecured Convertible 

Corporate Bonds 
(Abbreviation：Phison I) 

Phison Electronics Corporation 
Second Domestic Unsecured Convertible 

Corporate Bonds 
(Abbreviation：Phison II) 

Date of approval September 8, 2021 December 28, 2023 
Reason of 
issuance 

Purchase real estate, plant and equipment, 
repletion of working capital Repletion of working capital 

Date of issuance December 17, 2021 January 23, 2024 
Total amount of 

issuance NT$3,500,000,000 NT$6,000,000,000 

Par value of 
issuance NT$100,000 NT$100,000 

Price of issuance Issued at 100.5% of face value Issued at 101% of face value 
Duration of 

issuance 
Three years. From December 17, 2021 to 

December 17, 2024 
Five years. From January 23, 2024 to 

January 23, 2029 
Coupon rate 0.00% 0.00% 

Current 
conversion price NA NT$563.3 

Repayment 
method 

The convertible bonds matured on 
December 17, 2024, and were delisted 
from the OTC market on the next business 
day, December 18, 2024. In accordance 
with Article 6 of Phison I’s issuance and 
conversion regulations, the company 
repaid the bonds in full at face value in 
cash upon maturity. The payment was 
made on December 30, 2024. 

Unless the bondholder has converted the 
bonds into the common stock of the 
Company in accordance with Article 10 of 
the Regulations for the Issuance and 
Conversion of the Second Domestic 
Unsecured Convertible Bonds, or has 
exercised the right to sell the bonds in 
accordance with Article 19 of the 
Regulations, or has been redeemed by the 
Company in advance in accordance with 
Article 18 of the Regulations, or has been 
repurchased and cancelled by the Company 
from securities dealers, the Company will 
repay the bonds in cash at face value in one 
lump sum within ten business days 
(including the tenth business day) from the 
day following the maturity date of the 
bonds. If the aforementioned date falls on a 
day when the Taipei Exchange is closed for 
business, it will be postponed to the next 
business day. 

Conversion 
situation 

As of the maturity date of the convertible 
corporate bonds on December 17, 2024, a 
total of 68 bonds, amounting to NT$6.8 
million, had been converted, resulting in 
the issuance of 13,335 common shares. 
The remaining 34,932 unconverted bonds, 
amounting to NT$3,493.2 million, were 
fully repaid in cash by the company. 

As of the suspension date for conversions 
prior to this shareholders' meeting on 
March 29, 2025, no conversions had been 
made. 
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Case No. 6 (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: Report on the actual handling situation of the private placement of common 

shares approved by 2024 annual shareholders’ meeting. 
Explanation: The motion of conducting the private placement of 18,000,000 common 

shares and will be carried out in 1~2 times in installments within one year 
since the date of the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting was approved 
by 2024 annual shareholders’ meeting on May 27, 2024. Since the 
deadline of the aforementioned private placement of common shares is 
about to expire and no issuance has been carried out, and the Company 
currently has no plans to continue the private placement of common 
shares during the remaining period. Therefore, it is proposed to approve 
that this private placement of 18,000,000 common shares will not 
continue to be raised and issued. 

 
 
 
Case No. 7 (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: Report of the Company's Investment in Mainland China. 
Explanation: Please refer to Attachment 3 on page 23 to 24 of this handbook for 

information on the Company's investment in Mainland China in 2024. 
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Proposals to accept 
 
Case No. 1 (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: To accept the Company's 2024 Business Report and Financial Statements. 
Explanation: 1. The Individual Financial Statements of the Company for the year of 

2024 (including Individual Balance Sheets, Individual Statements of 
Comprehensive Income, Individual Statements of Changes in Equity, 
Individual Statement of Cash Flows) and Consolidated Financial 
Statements (including Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity, and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows) have 
been compiled and audited by independent auditors, Ms. Qian Hui Lu 
and Mr. Cheng, An Chih, of KPMG and Audit Committee. Please 
refer to the aforementioned Financial Statements and Independent 
Auditors’ Review Report together with the Business Report. 

2. For the 2024 Business Report, Consolidated Financial Statements and 
Individual Financial Statements, please refer to Attachment 1 on page 
17 to 21 and Attachment 4 on page 24 to 42, of this handbook 
respectively. 

Resolution: 
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Case No. 2 (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: To accept the Company's 2024 earning distribution. 
Explanation: The net profit after tax in 2024 was NT$7,953,205,850. The company 

prepared a statement of profit distribution for the year ended December 
31, 2024, in accordance with the Article of Incorporation of the company 
as follow: 

Phison Electronics Corporation 
PROFIT DISTRIBUTION TABLE 

Year 2024 
  （Unit: NTD$） 

Retained earnings at the beginning of the period 21,813,979,830   

Net profit after tax of Year 2024 7,953,205,850  

Less: Change in re-measurement of defined benefit plans in Year 2024 3,894,658  
The total of, the net profit after tax of the period plus the else items of the 
period be included in the undistributed earnings. 

7,949,311,192    

Less: 10% Legal Reserve 794,931,119  

     Reserved for first half of 2024 487,058,774  

     The balance of Legal Reserve  307,872,345  

Add: Reversal of Special Reserve based on regulations 24,531,271 

     Reversal for first half of 2024 74,354,984 

The balance of Special Reserve based on regulations 49,823,713 

Distributed earnings as of December 31, 2024 28,992,891,174 

Distributable items:  

Dividend to shareholders-Cash (Distributed NT$25.12356282per share) 5,172,125,133  

 First cash dividends distributed of the year (NT$13.12356282per share Note 2) 2,701,063,197  

 Second cash dividends distribution (NT$12per share Note 3) 2,471,061,936  

Unappropriated retained earnings by the end of the period. 23,820,766,041 

Note 1: Cash dividends were approved by the Board of Directors and to be reported at the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Note 2: The actual cash dividend per share was adjusted, as authorized by the Board of Directors, based on 
the number of actual total shares outstanding on the Base Day for cash dividend distribution. 

Note 3: The amount distributed was based on the Company's actual total number of 205,921,828 outstanding 
shares as of Jan 31, 2025, and the proposed cash dividend per share is NT$12. The actual cash 
dividend per share shall be subject to adjustment based on the number of actual total shares 
outstanding on the Base Day for cash dividend distribution. 

Chairman:Wee Kuan Gan  President: Zhong Xun Ma  Accounting Supervisor: Pao Feng Chen 
Resolution:  
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Discussion Proposals 
 
Case No. 1 (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: The Company propose to conduct the private placement of common shares. 
Explanation: 1. In order to bring in strategic investors and to strengthen long-term 

cooperative relationships with the strategic partners for the 
Company’s long-term operation and business development, the 
Company propose to conduct the private placements of new common 
shares for capital increase in cash in accordance with the Article 43-6 
of Securities and Exchange Act (hereinafter referred to as "this private 
placement of common shares"). The total issuance number of new 
shares for this private placement of common shares will be not more 
than 18,000,000 shares, which will be new common shares with a face 
value of NT$10 per share, and the increased capital of the Company 
will be not more than NT$180,000,000. 

2. In accordance with the Article 43-6 of Securities and Exchange Act 
and the provisions of Directions for Public Companies Conducting 
Private Placements of Securities, the explanations are as follows: 
(1) The basis and reasonableness of the private placement pricing: 

A. For setting the offering price of privately placed shares, the 
offering price shall be not lower than 85% of the higher price 
of the following two calculations: 
a. The simple average closing price of the common shares of 

the Company for either the 1, 3, or 5 business days before 
the price determination date, after adjustment for any 
distribution of stock dividends, cash dividends or capital 
reduction. 

b. The simple average closing price of the common shares of 
the Company for the 30 business days before the price 
determination date, after adjustment for any distribution of 
stock dividends, cash dividends, or capital reduction. 

B. The actual price determination date and the actual offering 
price of private placement shall be within a range that is no 
less than the resolution of the shareholders' meeting, and the 
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board of directors is authorized to decide based on the 
aforementioned pricing basis and based on the consideration 
of the actual specific subscribers and market conditions in the 
future. 

C. The determination of the private placement price shall be 
based on the regulations of Directions for Public Companies 
Conducting Private Placements of Securities. Additionally, 
and considering the Company's future development prospects 
and the strict restrictions on the transfer time, objects and 
quantity of private placement shares, and the Taipei Exchange 
listing is not allowed within three years, poor liquidity and 
other factors, the setting of this private placement price should 
be reasonable and will not have a significant impact on 
shareholders’ rights and interests. 

(2) The method of selecting the specific subscribers: 
A. The method of selecting the specific subscribers is in 

accordance with the provisions of Article 43-6 of the 
Securities and issued per 12 September 2023 Letter No. 
Financial-Supervisory-Securities-Corporate-1120383220 of 
the Financial Supervisory Commission; and the specific 
subscribers of this private placement of common shares will 
be limited to strategic investors. 

B. The subscribers will be limited to the strategic investors: 
a. The method and objectives of selecting the subscribers: Due 

to the Company's long-term operation and business 
development needs, priority will be given to selecting the 
strategic investors that can directly or indirectly benefit the 
Company's future operations, and can help the Company 
expand its business and product markets, strengthen 
customer relationships, or can help to enhance integrated 
benefits of product development, or to improve technology, 
and the strategic investors can recognize the Company’s 
business strategy. 

b. Necessity: The purpose of selecting the subscribers of this 
private placement of common shares is to bring in strategic 
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investors and strengthen long-term cooperative 
relationships with strategic partners. Through strategic 
investors, the Company can enhance long-term business 
competitiveness and operating efficiency, so it has its 
necessity. 

c. Estimated benefits: It is expected to help the Company 
reduce operating costs, upgrade product technology, and 
expand sales markets to improve the company's future 
operating performance by leveraging the strategic 
investors’ business experience, product technology, 
knowledge, brand reputation and market access, and 
through strategic cooperation, joint product development, 
market integration or business development cooperation 
with the strategic investors. 

C. There are currently no confirmed subscribers. 
(3) Necessary reasons for conducting this private placement of 

common shares: 
A. Reasons for not using public offering: Considering factors 

such as capital market conditions, issuance costs, the 
timeliness and feasibility of private placement method, and 
the restriction that private placement shares cannot be freely 
transferred within three years, it is better to ensure and 
strengthen the closer long-term cooperative relationship with 
strategic partners. So this time the Company decide to conduct 
the method of private placement instead of the public offering 
to increase cash capital and issue new shares. 

B. The total issuance number of the private placement: The total 
issuance number of new shares for this private placement of 
common shares will be not more than 18,000,000 shares. It 
will be processed in one or two times within one year from 
the date of resolution of the shareholders' meeting. 

C. The use of funds and expected benefits for each time of this 
private placement of common shares are as follows: 
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Number of 
times 

processed 
The use of funds Expected Benefits 

Process it in 
one time  

Funds raised from private 
placement of common shares 
will be used to seek 
opportunities for product 
technology cooperation, market 
business cooperation or 
strategic alliances with 
domestic and foreign customers 
and suppliers, and at the same 
time, to increase the 
Company’s operation working 
capital and meet the Company's 
long-term operation 
development needs.  

It is expected to help the 
Company to reduce the 
Company's operating 
risks, strengthen the 
financial structure, and 
enhance the Company's 
future operation 
performance benefits.  
 

Process it in 
two times  

If process it in two times, each 
time of funds raised from 
private placement of common 
shares will be used to seek 
opportunities for product 
technology cooperation, market 
business cooperation or 
strategic alliances with 
domestic and foreign customers 
and suppliers, and at the same 
time, to increase the 
Company’s operation working 
capital and meet the Company's 
long-term operation 
development needs. 

Each time is expected to 
help the Company to 
reduce the Company's 
operating risks, strengthen 
the financial structure, and 
enhance the Company's 
future operation 
performance benefits.  

(4) There were no significant change in management control in one year 
before the board of directors resolved to conduct this private 
placement of common shares plan. And the subscribers will be 
limited to the strategic investors, that will have a positive 
contribution to the Company's business development. 

(5) Other matters to be stated: 
A. In principle, the rights and obligations of the common shares 

in this private placement are the same as those of the 
Company’s issued common shares. However, in accordance 
with Article 43-8 of the Securities and Exchange Act, except 
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for the transfer objects and conditions stipulated in this article, 
in principle, the common shares of private placement shall not 
be freely transferred within three years from the date of 
delivery of the shares. After three years from the date of 
delivery of the shares, the Company will apply for obtaining a 
approval letter issued by the Taipei Exchange that meets the 
Taipei Exchange listing standards in accordance with the 
Securities and Exchange Act and other relevant regulations, 
and then apply with the competent authorities for public 
issuance and the Taipei Exchange listing of such common 
shares in this private placement. 

B. The main contents of this private placement of common shares 
plan, including the actual issuance number of private 
placement shares, actual private placement price, selection of 
subscribers, base date, issuance terms, planned items, fund use 
and progress, expected benefits and other related matters etc., 
as well as all other matters related to the issuance plan of this 
private placement of common shares, are proposed to be 
submitted to the shareholders' meeting to authorize the board 
of directors with full power and authority to adjust, decide and 
handle it based on market conditions. In the future, if there are 
any changes in laws or requirements of the competent 
authorities, or based on operational assessments, or changes 
due to objective environmental needs, it is also proposed to 
authorize the board of directors to handle all related matters 
with full power and authority. 

C. In addition to the scope of authorization mentioned above, it is 
proposed that the shareholders' meeting authorize the chairman 
to sign, negotiate and change all contracts and documents 
related to the private placement of common shares on behalf 
of the Company, and to handle all matters related to the 
issuance of private placement of common shares for the 
Company. 

Resolution: 
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Case No. 2 (Proposed by the Board) 
Note: Amendment to part of the Articles of “Articles of Incorporation”. 
Explanation: 1. According to the requirements of Article 14, Paragraph 6 of the 

Securities and Exchange Act and the letter No. 1130385442 of the 
Financial Supervisory Commission, the company shall specify in the 
articles of incorporation the relevant matters regarding the 
appropriation of a certain percentage of the annual surplus for 
adjusting the salary or distributing compensation to non-executive 
employees. 

2. The Company proposes to amend the Articles of Incorporation to 
stipulate the proportion of compensation allocated to non-executive 
employees in accordance with the applicable laws, please refer to 
Attachment 5 on page 43 to 46 of this handbook of amendment 
comparison table for the “Articles of Incorporation”. 

Resolution: 
 
 
 
 

Extemporary Motions 
Adjournment 
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Attachment 1:2024 Business Report 
 

PHISON Electronics Corporation 
2024 Business Report 

 

1. Operating Strategy and Execution Overview：： 
 
In the year 2024, the NAND storage industry faced challenges but also new 
opportunities. With the rapid growth of AI, servers, and edge computing, the 
demand for high-speed, high-performance storage solutions continued to rise. 
Leveraging its strong technical expertise and agile market strategy, Phison 
successfully navigated market shifts and maintained stable business 
performance. 
 
In the first half of 2024, demand in the NAND storage market rebounded, with 
system customers actively launching new products to capture market share. 
Phison benefited from its diversified market presence across retail storage, 
gaming consoles, industrial systems, automotive applications, and server 
solutions, achieving significant operational results. Notably, over 50% of the 
company’s revenue came from its technological strengths in NAND storage 
controllers and solutions for PC OEMs, Mobile OEMs, and enterprise SSDs, 
reinforcing its leadership position in the market. 
 
Entering the second half of the year, global economic factors such as trade wars, 
tariffs, and inflation slowed NAND storage demand, particularly in the retail 
storage market. This decline was primarily due to widespread pre-installation 
of SSDs in the PC OEM market, reducing consumer demand for aftermarket 
upgrades. However, Phison’s diversified strategy and innovative product 
portfolio ensured operational stability. The aiDAPTIV+ edge AI computing 
solution, introduced at the end of 2023, gradually gained customer adoption, 
while enterprise SSDs entered mass production and shipment, providing strong 
support for the company’s performance in the latter half of the year. 
 
Phison’s consolidated revenue for 2024 reached NT$58.936 billion, with a 
consolidated net profit of NT$7.954 billion and earnings per share (EPS) of 
NT$39.95. These results highlight Phison’s strong growth and financial 
stability, reflecting its continuous efforts in technology development and 
market expansion, further strengthening its competitive position. 
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Looking ahead, Phison remains committed to driving technological innovation 
and market expansion. The company plans to enhance the development of 
high-end storage products and make breakthroughs in AI computing 
applications. Progress is expected in areas such as AI inference optimization, 
automotive electronics, and enterprise storage solutions. With the launch of 
new products and the recovery of market demand, Phison will focus on 
improving product quality and technical services while deepening 
collaborations with global strategic partners. 
Phison is dedicated to leveraging its technological strengths to proactively 
address market challenges, delivering best-in-class storage solutions, 
achieving sustainable business growth, and creating a win-win situation for 
shareholders, employees, and customers. 

 
2. 2024 Business Results 

(1) Description of business results: 
① Consolidated operating revenue: 

The consolidated net operating revenue of the company for the year 
2024 was NT$58,935,513 thousand, which was increase than the 
year of 2023 of NT$48,221,630 thousand by 22.22%. 

② Consolidated net profit after tax: 
The consolidated net profit after tax of the company for the year 
2024 was NT$7,953,999 thousand, which was increase of 119.46% 
compared with the year of 2023 of NT$3,624,428 thousand. 

(2) Budget implementation: The Company did not disclose its financial 
forecasts of the year of 2024, so it is not necessary to publicly disclose the 
implementation of the budget. 

(3) Financial balance and profitability analysis: 
① Consolidated operating revenue and expenditure: 
 

Unit:  Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars 

Item 2024 2023 Increases 
(decreases) 

Proportion of 
the changes (%) 

Operating revenue 58,935,513 48,221,630 10,713,883 22.22 
Gross profit 19,098,762 16,114,244 2,984,518 18.52 
Net Operating Income 3,533,084 3,621,868 (88,784) (2.45) 
Non-operating income 
and expenses 6,215,982 477,574 5,738,408 1,201.57 

Net profit after tax 7,953,999 3,624,428 4,329,517 119.46 
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② Financial profitability of consolidated operation 

Item 2024 2023 

Financial 
structure 

Liability to asset ratio (%) 29.24 34.13 
Long-term asset to real estate, plant and 
equipment ratio (%) 

711.68 579.52 

Debt-paying 
ability 

Current ratio (%) 380.05 228.52 
Quick ratio (%) 203.51 116.02 
Interest coverage ratio (times) 36.66 76.98 

Operation 
performance 

Receivables turnover ratio (times) 6.68 5.72 
Average days of receipt (days) 54.64 63.81 
Inventory turnover ratio (times) 1.62 1.43 
Average sales days (days) 255.30 255.24 
Payables turnover ratio (times) 10.19 5.05 
PP&E turnover ratio (times) 7.76 6.41 
Total asset turnover ratio (times) 0.88 0.77 

Profitability 

Return on assets (%) 12.17 5.87 
Return on equity attributable to owners 
of parent company (%) 

17.32 9.01 

Ratio of operating income to paid-in 
capital (%) 

171.66 176.88 

Ratio of pre-tax income to paid-in 
capital (%) 

473.67 200.02 

Net income ratio (%) 13.50 7.52 
Basic earnings per share (NTD) 38.95 18.48 

Cash flow 
Cash flow ratio (%) 14.73 0.00 
Cash flow adequacy ratio (%) 44.30 35.98 
Cash re-investment ratio (%) (0.99) (10.05) 

Leverage 
Degree of operating leverage (DOL) 1.35 1.35 
Degree of financial leverage (DFL) 1.08 1.02 
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(4) Overview of R&D 
① Research and development costs in 2024 and the most recent two years: 

The consolidated R&D expenses for 2024, 2023 and 2022 are 
NT$12,585,639 thousand, NT$10,305,558 thousand and 
NT$8,130,501 thousand respectively, accounting for 21.35%, 21.37% 
and 13.49% of the consolidated operating revenue for each period. And 
as of the end of December 2024, the company has obtained 2,074 
patents approvals from various countries. 

② R & D results: 
In 2024, the following products have been successfully developed and 
launched, including: 

a. World's First PCIe 5.0 DRAM-Less Client SSD Controller – 
E31T 

b. World's First Single-Chip (SoC) Native USB 4.0 Controller – 
U21 

c. UFS 3.1 PS8325 – Designed for High-End Smartphones, 
Featuring TSMC 12nm Process and Dual-Channel Architecture 

d. UFS 3.1 PS8329 – Targeting the High-Value Mid-Range 
Smartphone Market with 22nm Process Technology 

e. UFS 4.0 PS8361 – Aimed at Flagship Smartphones, Featuring 
TSMC 12nm Process and Quad-Channel Architecture 

f. PASCARI – Enterprise SSD Brand Designed for Server and 
Enterprise Applications 

g. First 128TB Ultra-High-Capacity Enterprise SSD – D205V 
③ Based on market demand trends, industry competition, and new product 

launch schedules, the company currently plans to develop or 
continuously upgrade product lines in 2025 as follows: 

a. Continuously develop high-end enterprise SSDs with higher 
capacity, faster speeds, and enhanced interface fault tolerance, 
collaborating with strategic partners to meet the demands of the 
enterprise storage market 

b. Develop more compact, higher-capacity, and power-efficient 
controller solutions, including eMMC, UFS, and BGA SSDs for 
automotive storage, addressing the high-speed storage needs of 
future mobile devices 
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c. Advance the development of automotive-grade controller chips and 
strengthen compliance with various automotive certifications, 
including AEC-Q100, ISO 26262, IATF 16949, and ASPICE, to 
meet the growing demand for automotive electronics 

d. Continue introducing Redriver/Retimer ICs for PCs, servers, and 
in-vehicle systems, providing optimal signal stability solutions for 
high-speed transmission platforms 

e. Build upon the aiDAPTIV+ platform to develop next-generation 
edge AI solutions, expanding Edge AI applications and enabling 
more users to benefit from AI-driven convenience 

 
 
 
 

 

Chairman:  President: Accounting Supervisor: 
Wee Kuan Gan   Zhong Xun Ma    Pao Feng Chen 
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Attachment 2: Audit Committee's Review Report 
 

Audit Committee’s Review Report 
 
 
The board of directors prepared the Company’s 2024 Business Report, Financial 
Statements and profit distribution, etc. The CPA firm of KPMG audited the 
Financial Statements and have issued an audit report. Above Business Reports, 
Financial Statements and profit distribution were audited by Audit Committee and 
found no discrepancy, as reported in accordance with the Securities and Exchange 
Act and Company Act, please check. 

 
 

To 
 
2025 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
 
 
 

Phison Electronics Corp. 
 

Audit Committee Convener： 
 

Huei Ming Wang 
 
 
 
 
 

March 7, 2025 
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Independent Auditors’’Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors of Phison Electronics Corp.: 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Phison Electronics Corp. and its subsidiaries (“the 
Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations 
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), International Accounting Standards (“IASs”), Interpretations developed by 
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ( “ IFRIC ” ) and the former Standing 
Interpretations Committee (“SIC”) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission 
of the Republic of China. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Financial Statement Audit and 
Attestation Engagements of Certified Public Accountants and Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Account of Republic of China, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirement. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. Based on our judgment, the key audit matters that should be 
disclosed in this report are as follows: 

1. Revenue recognition 

Please refer to Note 4(14) “Summary of significant accounting policies－Revenue recognition”, Note 
6(21) “Description of significant accounts－Operating revenue” to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Description of key audit matter: 

The Group engaged primarily in the sale of flash memory controllers and peripheral system applications. 
Revenue is recognized depending on the various trade terms agreed with customers. This exposes the Group 
to the risk that the sales transactions made close to the balance sheet date may not be recorded in the 
appropriate period. In addition, the Group operates in an industry in which sales revenue is easily influenced 
by various external factors such as supply and demand of the market, and this may impact the recognition of 
revenue. Consequently, this is one of the key areas that our audit focused on. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included understanding and 
evaluating the effectiveness of the design and performing internal controls over the timing of revenue 
recognition; sample testing on sales transaction that took place before and after the balance sheet date to 
assess the accuracy of the timing of revenue recognition; and assessing the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures of its revenue recognition policy and other related disclosures. 

2. Valuation of inventories 

Please refer to Note 4(8) “Summary of significant accounting policies－Inventories”, Note 5  “Critical 
Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimations and Assumptions Uncertainty”, and Note 6(6) 
“Description of significant accounts－Inventories” to the consolidated financial statements. 

Description of key audit matter: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Due to the rapid technological 
innovations and highly competitive environment in the industry of the Group, the life cycles of products of 
the Group are short and the prices fluctuate rapidly, which could possibly result in a price decline and 
obsolescence of inventory, wherein the inventory cost may exceed its net realizable value. Consequently, this 
is one of the key areas that our audit focused on. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included reviewing the aging report 
of inventory and analyzing the fluctuation of inventory aging; on a sample basis, verifying the accuracy of the 
net realizable value of inventories and the inventory aging report; assessing the historical reasonableness of 
management’s estimates on inventory provisions; and evaluating whether valuation of inventories was 
accounted in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies and assessing the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures of its policy and other related disclosures. 

Other Matter 

Phison Electronics Corp. has prepared its parent-company-only financial statements as of and for the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, on which we have issued an unqualified opinion.   

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and with 
the IFRSs, IASs, IFRIC, and SIC endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of 
the Republic of China, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance (including the Audit Committee) are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process. 

Auditors’’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, we exercise 
professional judgment and professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

3.  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and  
related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 
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Notes to Readers 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the consolidated financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows in accordance with the accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and 
not those of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such consolidated financial statements are those 
generally accepted and applied in the Republic of China. 

The independent auditors’ audit report and the accompanying consolidated financial statements are the English translation of the 
Chinese version prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of the 
English and Chinese language independent auditors’ audit report and consolidated financial statements, the Chinese version shall 
prevail. 
 

 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’  report are Chien-Hui Lu and 
An-Chin Cheng. 

 

KPMG 

Taipei, Taiwan (Republic of China) 
March 7, 2025 
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 

 

(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese)  
Phison Electronics Corp. and subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Common Share) 
 

  2024 2023 
  Amount % Amount % 

4000  Operating revenue (notes 6(21) and 7) $ 58,935,513   100   48,221,630   100  
5000  Operating costs (notes 6(6)、6(22) and 7)  39,827,755   68   32,057,192   67  
  Gross profit from operations  19,107,758   32   16,164,438   33  
5910  Unrealized profit on transactions with associates (note 7)  (8,996)   -   (50,194)   -  
5950  Realized gross profit  19,098,762   32   16,114,244   33  
  Operating expenses (notes 6(22) and 7):     
6100  Marketing expenses  1,694,467   3   1,277,484   3  
6200  General and administrative expenses  1,279,995   2   959,935   2  
6300  Research and development expenses   12,585,639   21   10,305,558   21  
6450  Expected credit loss (reversal gain) (note 6(4))  5,577   -   (50,601)   -  
      Total operating expenses  15,565,678   26   12,492,376   26  
  Net operating income   3,533,084   6   3,621,868   7  
  Non-operating income and expenses:     
7010  Other income (notes 6(23) and 7)  340,773   1   295,717   1  
7020  Other gains and losses (note 6(23))  4,742,099   8   258,980   1  
7050  Finance costs (note 6(23))  (273,410)   -   (53,957)   -  
7100  Interest income (note 6(23))  255,672   -   207,981   -  
7060  Shares of profit (loss) of associates accounted for using the equity method 

(note 6(7))  1,150,848   2   (231,147)   -  
    6,215,982   11   477,574   2  
7900  Profit before tax  9,749,066   17   4,099,442   9  
7950  Income tax expenses (note 6(17))  1,795,067   3   475,014   1  
8200  Net profit for the year  7,953,999   14   3,624,428   8  
8300  Other comprehensive income (loss):      
8310    Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
8311  Remeasurements of defined benefit plans(note 6(16))  (4,869)   -   (972)   -  
8316  Unrealized gains (losses) from investments in equity instruments measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive income (note 6(24))  (77,304)   -   (56,570)   -  
8320  

 
Shares of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the 

equity method  (2,692)   -   (4,775)   -  
8349  Income tax related to items that will not be reclassified subsequently (note 

6(17))  974   -   194   -  
 Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  (83,891)   -   (62,123)   -  

8360    Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
8361  Exchange differences on translation of foreign financial statements  130,602   -   (124,063)   (1)  
8399  Income tax related to items that may be reclassified subsequently (note 

6(17))  (26,132)   -   24,812   -  
 Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  104,470   -   (99,251)   (1)  

8300  Other comprehensive income  20,579   -   (161,374)   (1)  
8500  Total comprehensive income $ 7,974,578   14   3,463,054   7  

 Net profit attributable to:     
8610  Shareholders of the parent Company $ 7,953,206   14   3,624,428   8  
8620  Non-controlling interests  793   -   -   -  
   $ 7,953,999   14   3,624,428   8  

 Total comprehensive income attributable to:     
8710  Shareholders of the parent Company $ 7,973,842   14   3,463,054   7  
8720  Non-controlling interests  736   -   -   -  
   $ 7,974,578   14   3,463,054   7  

 Earnings per share (New Taiwan Dollars) (note 6(20)):   
9750   Basic earnings per share $ 38.95   18.48  
9850   Diluted earnings per share $ 35.68   17.57  
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 
Phison Electronics Corp. and subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 2024 2023 
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Profit before income tax $ 9,749,066   4,099,442  
Adjustments:       

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss):       
Depreciation expense  694,998   685,682  
Amortization expense  538,416   519,158  
Expected credit loss (reversal gain)  5,577   (50,601)  
Net loss (gain) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  265,821   (429,756)  
Finance costs  273,410   53,957  
Net loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (1,247)   184  
Interest income  (255,672)   (207,981)  
Dividend income  (45,291)   (86,966)  
Share-based payments  1,332,094   518,918  
Shares of loss (profit) of associates accounted for using the equity 

method  (1,150,848)   231,147  
Gain on disposal of investments accounted for using the equity method  (4,289,820)   -  
Unrealized profit on transactions with associates  8,996   50,194  
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss  (572,207)   141,958  
Inventory obsolescence reversal gain  (100,923)   (379,317)  
Recognition (reversal) of refund liabilities  171,852   (191,265)  
Profit from lease modification  -   (30)  

Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)  (3,124,844)   855,282  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

Accounts receivable (including related parties)  1,715,459   (2,652,148)  
Other receivables  272,549   (84,828)  
Inventories  (102,721)   (3,640,713)  
Prepayments  (372,969)   (45,765)  
Other current assets  (904)   (172)  
Contract liabilities  35,612   (13,358)  
Accounts payable (including related parties)  (5,204,354)   456,891  
Other payables  668,172   (291,580)  
Other current liabilities  (175,843)   59,197  
Net defined benefit liabilities  2,248   2,452  

Total changes in operating assets and liabilities  (3,162,751)   (6,210,024)  
Cash inflow (outflow) generated from operations  3,461,471   (1,255,300)  
Interest paid  (149,870)   (18,271)  
Income taxes paid  (1,217,508)   (422,646)  

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities  2,094,093   (1,696,217)  

(Continued)  
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

(English Translation of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 
Phison Electronics Corp. and subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 2024 2023 
Cash flows from investing activities:       

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income  (55,315)   (91,330)  

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  -   9,000  

Proceeds from capital reduction of financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  3,718   -  

Acquisition of financial assets at amortized cost  (239)   (69)  
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (1,295)   (500,938)  
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  -   801,049  
Proceeds from capital reduction of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss  -   9,000  
Acquisition of investments accounted for using the equity method  (143,721)   -  
Proceeds from disposal of investments in associates  5,436,854   -  
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (964,510)   (390,749)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  9,539   300  
Decrease (increase) in refundable deposits  27,782   (1,117,665)  
Acquisition of intangible assets  (704,857)   (377,763)  
Interest received  249,893   207,864  
Dividends received  45,291   86,966  

Net cash flows from (used in)  investing activities  3,903,140   (1,364,335)  
Cash flows from financing activities:       

Increase in short-term loans  9,152,673   2,561,756  
Decrease in short-term loans  (10,528,341)   (384,462)  
Repayments of long-term borrowings  (27,429)   (48,949)  
Proceeds from issuing bonds (excluding issuance costs)  6,054,064   -  
Redemption of bonds payable  (3,493,200)   -  
Decrease in guarantee deposits received  (628,772)   (1,150,954)  
Payment of lease liabilities  (88,182)   (63,905)  
Cash dividends paid  (2,660,817)   (2,836,702)  
Exercise of employee stock options  284,555   1,379,676  
Treasury shares sold to employees  1,254,088   801,843  
Increase in non-controlling interests  8,545   -  

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities  (672,816)   258,303  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  437,378   (11,153)  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  5,761,795   (2,813,402)  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  14,220,367   17,033,769  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 19,982,162   14,220,367  
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Independent Auditors’’Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors of Phison Electronics Corp.: 

Opinion 

We have audited the parent company only financial statements of Phison Electronics Corp.(“the Company”), 
which comprise the parent company only balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the parent company 
only statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes 
to the parent company only financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company only financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the parent company only financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its 
parent company only financial performance and its parent company only cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Financial Statement Audit and 
Attestation Engagements of Certified Public Accountant and Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Parent Company Only Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of Republic of China, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirement. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the parent company only financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the parent company only financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Based on our judgment, the key audit matters that should 
be disclosed in this report are as follows: 

1. Revenue recognition 

Please refer to Note 4(14) “Summary of significant accounting policies－Revenue recognition”, Note 
6(20)  “Description of significant accounts－Operating revenue” to the parent company only financial 
statements. 

Description of key audit matter: 

The Company engaged primarily in the sale of flash memory controllers and peripheral system applications. 
Revenue is recognized depending on the various trade terms agreed with customers. This exposes the 
Company to the risk that the sales transactions made close to the balance sheet date may not be recorded in 
the appropriate period. In addition, the Company operates in an industry in which sales revenue is easily 
influenced by various external factors such as supply and demand of the market, and this may impact the 
recognition of revenue. Consequently, this is one of the key areas that our audit focused on. 
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How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included understanding and 
evaluating the effectiveness of the design and performing internal controls over the timing of revenue 
recognition; sample testing on sales transaction that took place before and after the balance sheet date to 
assess the accuracy of the timing of revenue recognition; and assessing the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures of its revenue recognition policy and other related disclosures. 

2. Valuation of inventories 

Please refer to Note 4(7) “Summary of significant accounting policies－Inventories”, Note 5 “Critical 
Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimations and Assumptions Uncertainty”, and Note 6(6) 
“Description of significant accounts－Inventories” to the parent company only financial statements. 

Description of key audit matter: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Due to the rapid technological 
innovations and highly competitive environment in the industry of the Company, the life cycles of products 
of the Company are short and the prices fluctuate rapidly, which could possibly result in a price decline and 
obsolescence of inventory, wherein the inventory cost may exceed its net realizable value. Consequently, this 
is one of the key areas that our audit focused on. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included reviewing the aging report 
of inventory and analyzing the fluctuation of inventory aging; on a sample basis, verifying the accuracy of the 
net realizable value of inventories and the inventory aging report; assessing the historical reasonableness of 
management’s estimates on inventory provisions; and evaluating whether valuation of inventories was 
accounted in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies and assessing the adequacy of the 
Company’s disclosures of its policy and other related disclosures. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company Only 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company only financial 
statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 
Issuers and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of parent 
company only financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the parent company only financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance (including the Audit Committee) are responsible for overseeing the Company’
s financial reporting process. 
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Auditors’’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Only Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company only financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these parent company only financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, we exercise 
professional judgment and professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company only financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the parent company only financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company only financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the parent company only financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the investment in 
other entities accounted for using the equity method to express an opinion on this financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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Notes to Readers 

The accompanying parent company only financial statements are intended only to present the financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows in accordance with the accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of 
any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such parent company only financial statements are those 
generally accepted and applied in the Republic of China. 

The independent auditors’ audit report and the accompanying parent company only financial statements are the English translation of 
the Chinese version prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of 
the English and Chinese language independent auditors’ audit report and parent company only financial statements, the Chinese version 
shall prevail. 
 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the parent company only financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Chien Hui Lu and 
An-Chin Cheng. 

 

KPMG 

Taipei, Taiwan (Republic of China) 
March 7, 2025 
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See accompanying notes to parent company only financial statements. 
 

 

(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese)  
Phison Electronics Corp. 

Statements of Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Common Share) 

 

  2024 2023 

  Amount % Amount % 
4000  Operating revenue (notes 6(20) and 7) $ 58,187,962   100   47,513,008   100  
5000  Operating costs (notes 6(6), 6(21) and 7)  39,523,515   68   31,886,845   67  
  Gross profit from operations  18,664,447   32   15,626,163   33  
5910  Unrealized profit on transactions with associates (note 7)  (8,996)   -   (50,194)   -  
5950  Realized gross profit  18,655,451   32   15,575,969   33  
  Operating expenses (notes 6(21) and 7):     
6100  Marketing expenses  1,495,706   3   1,158,506   2  
6200  General and administrative expenses  1,133,363   2   821,294   2  
6300  Research and development expenses   12,534,516   21   10,309,104   22  
6450  Expected credit loss (reversal gain) (note 6(4))  5,642   -   (50,759)   -  
      Total operating expenses  15,169,227   26   12,238,145   26  
  Net operating income   3,486,224   6   3,337,824   7  
  Non-operating income and expenses:     
7010  Other income (notes 6(22) and 7)  301,121   -   252,959   1  
7020  Other gains and losses (notes 6(22) and 7)  347,367   1   363,490   1  
7050  Finance costs (note 6(22))  (268,025)   -   (49,465)   -  
7100  Interest income (note 6(22))  208,591   -   187,371   -  
7060  

 
Shares of profit (loss) of subsidiaries and associates accounted for using the 

equity method (note 6(7))  5,262,554   9   (52,214)   -  
    5,851,608   10   702,141   2  
7900  Profit before tax  9,337,832   16   4,039,965   9  
7950  Income tax expenses (note 6(16))  1,384,626   2   415,537   1  
8200  Net profit for the year  7,953,206   14   3,624,428   8  
8300  Other comprehensive income (loss):      
8310  Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
8311  Remeasurements of defined benefit plans(note 6(15))  (4,869)   -   (972)   -  
8316  Unrealized gains (losses) from investments in equity instruments measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive income (note 6(23))  (59,202)   -   (70,986)   -  
8330  

 
Shares of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries and associates 

accounted for using the equity method  (20,794)   -   9,641   -  
8349  

 
Income tax related to items that will not be reclassified subsequently 

(note 6(16))  974   -   194   -  
 Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  (83,891)   -   (62,123)   -  

8360  Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
8361  Exchange differences on translation of foreign financial statements  130,659   -   (124,063)   (1)  
8399  Income tax related to items that may be reclassified subsequently (note 

6(16))  (26,132)   -   24,812   -  
 Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  104,527   -   (99,251)   (1)  

8300  Other comprehensive income  20,636   -   (161,374)   (1)  
8500  Total comprehensive income $ 7,973,842   14   3,463,054   7  

 Earnings per share (New Taiwan Dollars) (note 6(19)):   
9750   Basic earnings per share $ 38.95   18.48  
9850   Diluted earnings per share $ 35.68   17.57  
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See accompanying notes to parent company only financial statements. 
 

 

(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 
Phison Electronics Corp. 
Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 2024 2023 
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Profit before income tax $ 9,337,832   4,039,965  
Adjustments:       

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss):       
Depreciation expense  582,436   587,921  
Amortization expense  532,877   514,923  
Expected credit loss (reversal gain)  5,642   (50,759)  
Net loss (gain) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  257,229   (453,131)  
Finance costs  268,025   49,465  
Interest income  (208,591)   (187,371)  
Dividend income  (45,291)   (81,717)  
Share-based payments  1,304,409   514,054  
Shares of loss (profit) of subsidiaries and associates accounted for using 

the equity method  (5,262,554)   52,214  
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (1,403)   -  
Unrealized profit on transactions with associates  8,996   50,194  
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss  (445,156)   178,399  
Inventory obsolescence reversal gain  (64,573)   (380,542)  
Recognition (reversal) of refund liabilities  171,852   (191,265)  
Profit from lease modification  (64)   (30)  

Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)  (2,896,166)   602,355  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

Accounts receivable (including related parties)  1,817,957   (2,816,549)  
Other receivables  309,231   (127,184)  
Inventories  (128,663)   (3,566,869)  
Prepayments  (370,541)   (42,315)  
Other current assets  (695)   30  
Contract liabilities  25,752   (13,363)  
Accounts payable (including related parties)  (5,285,273)   614,588  
Other payables  598,922   (377,861)  
Other current liabilities  (166,046)   (102,727)  
Net defined benefit liabilities  2,248   2,452  
Total changes in operating assets and liabilities  (3,197,108)   (6,429,798)  

Cash inflow (outflow) generated from operations  3,244,558   (1,787,478)  
Interest paid  (144,433)   (13,717)  
Income taxes paid  (717,298)   (349,771)  

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities  2,382,827   (2,150,966)  

(Continued)  
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See accompanying notes to parent company only financial statements. 
 
 

(English Translation of Parent Company Only Financial Statements Originally Issued in Chinese) 
Phison Electronics Corp. 

Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 2024 2023 
Cash flows from investing activities:       

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income  (30,000)   (85,300)  

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  -   9,000  

Acquisition of financial assets at amortized cost  (239)   (69)  
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  -   801,049  
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  -   (500,000)  
Proceeds from capital reduction of financial assets at fair value through profit 

of loss  -   9,000  
Acquisition of investments accounted for using the equity method  (1,033,770)   -  
Proceeds from disposal of investments accounted for using the equity method  8,545   -  
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (795,675)   (376,767)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  9,539   -  
Decrease (increase) in refundable deposits  32,917   (1,118,228)  
Acquisition of intangible assets  (695,825)   (375,968)  
Decrease (increase) in prepayments for land and equipment  (7,826)   48,053  
Interest received  207,000   188,526  
Dividends received  45,291   81,717  

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (2,260,043)   (1,318,987)  
Cash flows from financing activities:       

Increase in short-term loans  9,152,673   2,561,756  
Decrease in short-term loans  (10,528,341)   (384,462)  
Proceeds from issuing bonds (excluding issuance costs)  6,054,064   -  
Redemption of bonds payable  (3,493,200)   -  
Decrease in guarantee deposits received  (629,381)   (996,803)  
Payment of lease liabilities  (70,094)   (53,713)  
Cash dividends paid  (2,660,817)   (2,836,702)  
Exercise of employee stock options  284,555   1,379,676  
Treasury shares sold to employees  1,254,088   801,843  

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities  (636,453)   471,595  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  308,388   (8,902)  
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (205,281)   (3,007,260)  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  12,205,330   15,212,590  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 12,000,049   12,205,330  
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Attachment 5: Comparison Table for Amendments to Articles of Incorporation 
 

Phison Electronics Corporation 
Comparison Table for Amendments to Articles of Incorporation 

Amended Article Current Articles Explanation Item Content Item Content 
Article 19 If the company makes 

profits in a given year, it 
shall allocate 8% to 19% 
of such profit as 
employees compensation, 
of which the allocation to 
non-executive employees 
shall not be less than 1% 
and allocation no more 
than 1.5% as directors’ 
compensations, but the 
Company shall reserve a 
portion of profit to make 
up for accumulated losses, 
if any. 
Employee’s remuneration 
may be distributed in 
shares or cash, and the 
compensation of directors 
shall be paid in cash. 
The term “profit” as 
mentioned in the first 
paragraph refers to pre-tax 
profits before deducting 
the distributed employees 
and directors’ 
remuneration. 
Employee and director 
remuneration allocation 
must be approved by the 
board of directors in a 
meeting attended by more 

Article 19 If the company makes 
profits in the year, it shall 
appropriate 8% to 19% for 
employees’ compensation 
and no more than 1.5% for 
directors’ compensations, 
but the Company shall 
reserve a portion of profit 
to make up for 
accumulated losses, if 
any. 
Employee’s remuneration 
may be distributed in 
shares or cash, and the 
compensation of directors 
shall be paid in cash. 
The term “profit” as 
mentioned in the first 
paragraph refers to pre-tax 
profits before deducting 
the distributed employees 
and directors’ 
remuneration. 
Employee and director 
remuneration allocation 
must be approved by the 
board of directors in a 
meeting attended by more 
than two-thirds of all 
board members, where 
half of attending directors 
approve. The 

To make 
amendments in 
according to the 
requirements of 
Article 14, 
Paragraph 6 of 
the Securities 
and Exchange 
Act and the 
letter No. 
1130385442 of 
the Financial 
Supervisory 
Commission 
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Amended Article Current Articles Explanation Item Content Item Content 
than two-thirds of all 
board members, where 
half of attending directors 
approve. 
The remuneration 
resolution shall be 
reported in the annual 
general meeting. 
Employee treasury stocks, 
employee stock options, 
new shares purchased by 
employees, employee 
restricted stock awards, 
and employee 
compensation shall be 
provided by the Company 
to controlling or 
subordinate employees 
who meet certain 
conditions. The board of 
directors is authorized to 
determine its conditions 
and allocation method. 

remuneration resolution 
shall be reported in the 
annual general meeting. 
Employee treasury stocks, 
employee stock options, 
new shares purchased by 
employees, employee 
restricted stock awards, 
and employee 
compensation shall be 
provided by the Company 
to controlling or 
subordinate employees 
who meet certain 
conditions. The board of 
directors is authorized to 
determine its conditions 
and allocation method. 

Article 21 The Articles were 
established on October 
24, 2000. 
The first amendment was 
made on November 21, 
2000. 
The second amendment 
was made on September 
5, 2001. 
The third amendment was 
made on February 15, 
2002. 
The fourth amendment 

Article 21 The Articles were 
established on October 
24, 2000. 
The first amendment was 
made on November 21, 
2000. 
The second amendment 
was made on September 
5, 2001. 
The third amendment was 
made on February 15, 
2002. 
The fourth amendment 

Amendment of 
revision date 



- 45 -

 

- 45 - 
 

Amended Article Current Articles Explanation Item Content Item Content 
was made on April 9, 
2002. 
The fifth amendment was 
made on June 25, 2002. 
The sixth amendment was 
made on March 26, 2003. 
The seventh amendment 
wasmade on November 
12, 2003. 
The eighth amendment 
was made on June 15, 
2004. 
The ninth amendment 
was made on March 17, 
2005. 
The tenth amendment was 
made on June 16, 2005. 
The eleventh amendment 
was made on June 14, 
2006. 
The twelfth amendment 
was made on November 
1, 2006. 
The thirteenth 
amendment was made on 
June 13, 2007. 
The fourteenth 
amendment was made on 
June 13, 2008. 
The fifteenth amendment 
was made on May 8, 
2009. 
The sixteenth amendment 
was made on June 15, 
2010. 
The seventeenth 

was made on April 9, 
2002. 
The fifth amendment was 
made on June 25, 2002. 
The sixth amendment was 
made on March 26, 2003. 
The seventh amendment 
was made on November 
12, 2003. 
The eighth amendment 
was made on June 15, 
2004. 
The ninth amendment 
was made on March 17, 
2005. 
The tenth amendment was 
made on June 16, 2005. 
The eleventh amendment 
was made on June 14, 
2006. 
The twelfth amendment 
was made on November 
1, 2006. 
The thirteenth amendment 
was made on June 13, 
2007. 
The fourteenth 
amendment was made on 
June 13, 2008. 
The fifteenth amendment 
was made on May 8, 
2009. 
The sixteenth amendment 
was made on June 15, 
2010. 
The seventeenth 
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Amended Article Current Articles Explanation Item Content Item Content 
amendment was made on 
June 15, 2011. 
The eighteenth 
amendment was made on 
June 11, 2013. 
The nineteenth 
amendment was made on 
June 17, 2014. 
The twentieth amendment 
was made on June 2, 
2015. 
The twenty-first 
amendment was made on 
June 15, 2016. 
The twenty-second 
amendment was made on 
June 13, 2017. 
The twenty-third 
amendment was made on 
June 12, 2019. 
The twenty-four 
amendment was made on 
June 3, 2020. 
The twenty-fifth 
amendment was made on 
July 26, 2021. 
The twenty-sixth 
amendment was made on 
May 24, 2022. 
The twenty-seventh 
amendment was made on  
May 27, 2025. 

amendment was made on 
June 15, 2011. 
The eighteenth 
amendment was made on 
June 11, 2013. 
The nineteenth 
amendment was made on 
June 17, 2014. 
The twentieth amendment 
was made on June 2, 
2015. 
The twenty-first 
amendment was made on 
June 15, 2016. 
The twenty-second 
amendment was made on 
June 13, 2017. 
The twenty-third 
amendment was made on 
June 12, 2019. 
The twenty-four 
amendment was made on 
June 3, 2020. 
The twenty-fifth 
amendment was made on 
July 26, 2021. 
The twenty-sixth 
amendment was made on 
May 24, 2022. 
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Appendix 1: Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ Meeting 

Phison Electronics Corporation 
Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ Meeting 

 
 

Article 1: The Company’s shareholder’s meeting shall be conducted in accordance with 

the Rules. The items which are not regulated in the Rules shall be processed in 

accordance with the relevant provisions of the Company Act and the Articles 

of Incorporation of the Company. 

Article 1-1: The shareholders’ meetings of the Company may be convened by means of 

physical meeting, visual communication network or other methods 

promulgated by the central competent authority. 

If the shareholders’ meeting is held through visual communication, 

shareholders, an issuer’s proxy solicitors, and proxy agents (hereinafter 

referred to as “shareholders”) who wish to attend the meeting online shall 

register with the Company two days before the meeting date. The 

shareholders taking part in such a visual communication meeting shall be 

deemed to have attended the meeting in person. 

Article 2: Attending shareholders or their agents are required to wear an attendance card 

and to submit attendance cards in lieu of signing in. The number of shares 

represented by shareholders attending the meeting shall be calculated in 

accordance with the number of attendance cards submitted by shareholders and 

the attending number of shares on the platform of the visual communication 

network, and the number of shares held by shareholders who are permitted to 

exercise voting rights in electronic form. 

Article 3: Shareholders’ meeting shall convene at the Company’s registered office or a 

place convenient to attend and suitable for meeting, the meeting shall be called 

no earlier than 9 a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. The restrictions on the place of 

the meeting shall not apply when the Company convenes a virtual-only 

shareholders meeting. 

Article 4: The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public accountants, or related 

persons to attend the shareholders’ Meeting. 
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Staff handling administrative affairs of a Shareholders’ Meeting shall wear 

identification cards or arm bands. 

Article 5: Entire proceedings of shareholders’ meeting shall be recorded on audio or 

video tape and preserved for at least 1 year. 

Where a shareholders meeting is held online, the Company shall keep records 

of shareholder registration, sign-in, check-in, questions raised, votes cast and 

results of votes counted by the Company, and continuously audio and video 

record, without interruption, the proceedings of the virtual meeting from 

beginning to end. 

The information and audio and video recording in the preceding paragraph shall 

be properly kept by the Company during the entirety of its existence, and copies 

of the audio and video recording shall be provided to and kept by the party 

appointed to handle matters of the virtual meeting. 

In case of a virtual shareholders meeting, the Company is advised to audio and 

video record the back-end operation interface of the virtual meeting platform. 

Article 6: When a majority of the shareholders present, who represent more than one-

half of the total number of voting shares, the meeting Chairman shall call the 

meeting. If the number of shares represented by the attending shareholders has 

not yet constituted the quorum at the time scheduled for the general meeting, 

the meeting Chairman may postpone the time for the meeting. But the number 

of postponements shall be limited to two and the total delay time shall not 

exceed one hour. If the quorum is still not met after two postponements but 

shareholders representing more than one-third of the total issued shares are 

present, or by proxy and entitled to vote, a tentative resolution may be passed 

in accordance with Article of 175 of the Company Act. During the execution 

of a tentative resolution, if the number of Shares represented by the attending 

Shareholders has already constituted more than an aggregate of one-half (1/2) 

of all shares in issue, the meeting Chairman may put the tentative resolutions 

already passed to the Shareholders’ resolution again in accordance with Article 

174 of the Company Act. If the shareholders’ meeting is held through visual 

communication, shareholders who wish to attend the meeting online shall re-

register with the Company two days before the meeting date. 
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Article 7: If a shareholder meeting is convened by the board of directors, the board of 

directors shall decide the proceedings and the meeting shall be conducted 

accordingly, no changes may be made except with the resolution of the 

shareholder meeting. 

Changes to how the Company convenes its shareholders’ meeting shall be 

resolved by the board of directors, and shall be made no later than mailing of 

the shareholders’ meeting notice. 

The preceding paragraph applies to circumstances where the shareholder’s 

meeting is convened by any person, who is outside the board of directors but 

having the convening right. 

Prior to conclusion of the preceding two agenda items (including extraordinary 

motions), the chairman shall not declare the meeting closed unless a resolution 

is passed. 

After a meeting closed, shareholders may not elect another meeting Chairman 

to continue the proceeding of the meeting at the same or a new place, provided 

that, if the meeting Chairman declares the adjournment of the meeting in a 

manner in violation of rules governing the proceedings of meetings, a new 

meeting Chairman may be elected by a resolution to be adopted by a majority 

of the voting rights represented by the shareholders attending the said meeting 

to continue the proceeding of the meeting. 

Article 7-1: Shareholders holding 1% or more of the total number of outstanding shares 

of the Company may submit a written proposal to the Company for 

discussion at annual shareholders’ meeting. 

Prior to the book closure date before annual shareholders’ meeting is held, 

the Company shall publicly announce that it will receive shareholder 

proposals, and the location and time period for their submission; the period 

for submission of shareholder proposals may not be less than 10 days. 

If the proposal of a shareholder is approved by the board of directors and that 

it is not involved in any following circumstances, it shall be listed in the 

meeting notice of the annual shareholders’ meeting: 

1. Where the subject (the issue) of the said proposal cannot be settled or 

resolved by a resolution to be adopted at a meeting of shareholders. 
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2. Where the number of shares of held by shareholders making the said 

proposal is less than one percent (1%) of the total number of outstanding 

shares at the time when the share transfer registration is suspended in the 

general shareholder’s meeting. 

3. Where the said proposal is submitted on the day beyond the deadline fixed 

and announced by the Company. 

4. The proposals submitted by the proposing shareholders exceed one item, 

or more than 300 words (including punctuation), or were not submitted in 

a writing format. 

The Company shall, prior to preparing and delivering the shareholders’ 

meeting notice, inform the shareholders who have raised proposals the result 

of the evaluation. The board of directors shall list the proposals which are not 

included in the agenda, on the annual shareholders’ meeting’s handbook and 

explain the reasons for excluding those proposals from the agenda. These 

reasons are not included in the agenda or in the meeting minutes. 

Article 8 When a shareholder meeting is convened by the board of directors, the 

Chairman shall preside over the meeting. If the Chairman is on leave or unable 

to attend the meeting, the vice Chairman shall chair the meeting. If there is no 

vice Chairman or the vice Chairman is also on leave or unable to attend, the 

Chairman shall designate a managing director to chair the meeting. If there is 

no managing director, a director shall be designated. If the Chairman fails to 

designate a director, directors and the managing director shall elect one person 

from among them to chair the meeting. When shareholders’ meeting is 

convened by other person who is outside the board of directors but having the 

convening right, such person shall act as the meeting Chairman at that meeting. 

Article 8-1: When the Company convenes a virtual-only shareholders meeting, both the 

chairman and secretary shall be in the same location, and the chairman shall 

declare the address of their location when the meeting is called to order. 

Article 8-2: When the Company convenes a virtual shareholders meeting, it shall include 

the items stipulated in the Regulations Governing the Administration of 

Shareholder Services of Public Companies in the shareholders’ meeting 

notice. 
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Article 9: During the meeting, the meeting Chairman may declare a break according to 

his or her judgment. 

Article 10: No discussion or vote for non-proposals. During the discussion of proposals, 

the meeting Chairman may announce that the discussion shall be terminated 

at an appropriate timing and may, if necessary, make an announcement of the 

suspension of discussion. 

Article 11: When a shareholder attending the shareholders’ meeting wishes to speak, a 

speech note should be filled out with summary of the speech, the 

shareholder’s account number (or the number of attendance card), name of 

the shareholder and the current shareholding. The sequence of speeches shall 

be determined by the meeting Chairman. 

Article 12: Shareholders’ speeches, each person (including natural persons and legal 

persons) shall be limited to five minutes. However, with the permission of 

the meeting Chairman, it may be extended once. In the same proposal, each 

person (including natural persons and legal persons) shall not speak more 

than twice. When the legal person is appointed to attend as proxy, it may 

designate only one person to represent the shareholder in the meeting. When 

a juristic person shareholder appoints two or more representatives to attend a 

shareholders’ meeting, only one of the representatives so appointed may 

speak on the same proposal. 

Article 13: After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chairman may respond in 

person or direct relevant personnel to respond. 

Article 13-1: Where a virtual shareholders’ meeting is convened, shareholders attending 

the virtual meeting online may raise questions in writing at the virtual 

meeting platform from the chairman declaring the meeting open until the 

chairman declaring the meeting adjourned. No more than two questions for 

the same proposal may be raised. Each question shall contain no more than 

200 words. The regulations in Articles 11 and 12 do not apply. As long as 

questions so raised are not in violation of the regulations or beyond the 

scope of a proposal, it is advisable that the questions be disclosed to the 

public on the virtual meeting platform. 
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Article 14: When the speech of any shareholder is too long or exceeds the scope of the 

agenda item, the meeting Chairman may stop their speech. The meeting 

Chairman may command shareholders who disobey the meeting Chairman’s 

correction and impede the process of the meeting to leave the meeting venue. 

Article 15: As the meeting Chairman announced that the discussed proposal shall be 

terminated or suspended, the chairman may submit them for a vote. 

Article 16: Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the Company’s 

Articles of Incorporation, the resolution of a proposal shall require an 

affirmative vote of a majority of the voting rights represented by the 

attending shareholders. At the time of a vote, for each proposal, the chairman 

or a person designated by the chair shall first announce the total number of 

voting rights represented by the attending shareholders, followed by a poll of 

the shareholders. After the conclusion of the meeting, on the same day it is 

held, the results for each proposal, based on the numbers of votes for and 

against and the number of abstentions, shall be entered into the MOPS. 

Article 17: Vote monitoring and counting personnel for the voting on a proposal shall be 

appointed by the meeting Chairman, provided that all monitoring personnel 

shall be shareholders of the Company. The results of the voting shall be 

announced on-site at the meeting, and the records shall be made. 

Article 18: In the event amendments or substitutions are provided for in the same 

proposal, the meeting Chairman may decide the order of the vote including 

the original proposal. When any one among of them is passed, the other 

proposals are simultaneously rejected and no further voting shall be required. 

When the written proposal of a shareholder, pursuant to the Article 172-1 of 

the Company Act, is included in the agenda of the general shareholders’ 

meeting, and if the type of the proposal is similar to the one already proposed 

by the board of directors, these proposal submissions shall be combined and 

processed in accordance with the provisions of the preceding paragraph. 

The order of the discussion of each proposal brought up in extraordinary 

motion and the order of the vote shall be decided by the meeting Chairman. 

When the Company convenes a virtual shareholders’ meeting, after the chair 

declares the meeting open, shareholders attending the meeting online shall 
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cast votes on proposals and elections on the virtual meeting platform before 

the chairman announces the voting session ends or will be deemed abstained 

from voting. 

In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, votes shall be counted one at 

a time after the chairman announces the voting session ends, and results of 

votes and elections shall be announced immediately. 

Article 18-1: In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall disclose 

real-time results of votes and election immediately after the end of the 

voting session on the virtual meeting platform according to the regulations, 

and this disclosure shall continue at least 15 minutes after the chairman has 

announced the meeting adjourned. 

Article 18-2: In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, when declaring the meeting 

open, the chairman shall also declare, unless under a circumstance where a 

meeting is not required to be postponed to or resumed at another time under 

Article 44-20, paragraph 4 of the Regulations Governing the 

Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies, if the virtual 

meeting platform or participation in the virtual meeting is obstructed due to 

natural disasters, accidents or other force majeure events before the 

chairman has announced the meeting adjourned, and the obstruction 

continues for more than 30 minutes, the meeting shall be postponed to or 

resumed on another date within five days, in which case Article 182 of the 

Company Act shall not apply. 

For a meeting to be postponed or resumed as described in the preceding 

paragraph, shareholders who have not registered to participate in the 

affected shareholders’ meeting online shall not attend the postponed or 

resumed session. 

For a meeting to be postponed or resumed under the first paragraph, the 

number of shares represented by, and voting rights and election rights 

exercised by the shareholders who have registered to participate in the 

affected shareholders’ meeting and have successfully signed in the meeting, 

but do not attend the postpone or resumed session, at the affected 

shareholders’ meeting, shall be counted towards the total number of shares, 
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number of voting rights and number of election rights represented at the 

postponed or resumed session. 

During a postponed or resumed session of a shareholders' meeting held 

under the first paragraph, no further discussion or resolution is required for 

proposals for which votes have been cast and counted and results have been 

announced, or list of elected directors. 

When the Company convenes a hybrid shareholders’ meeting, and the 

virtual meeting cannot continue as described in the first paragraph, if the 

total number of shares represented at the meeting, after deducting those 

represented by shareholders attending the virtual shareholders’ meeting 

online, still meets the minimum legal requirement for a shareholders’ 

meeting, then the shareholders’ meeting shall continue, and not 

postponement or resumption thereof under the first paragraph is required. 

Under the circumstances where a meeting should continue as in the 

preceding paragraph, the shares represented by shareholders attending the 

virtual meeting online shall be counted towards the total number of shares 

represented by shareholders present at the meeting, provided these 

shareholders shall be deemed abstaining from voting on all proposals on 

meeting agenda of that shareholders’ meeting. 

When postponing or resuming a meeting according to the first paragraph, 

the Company shall handle the preparatory work based on the date of the 

original shareholders’ meeting in accordance with the requirements listed 

under Article 44-20, paragraph 7 of the Regulations Governing the 

Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies. 

Article 18-3: When convening a virtual-only shareholders meeting, the Company shall 

provide appropriate alternative measures available to shareholders with 

difficulties in attending a virtual shareholders’ meeting online. 

Article 19: The meeting Chairman may command inspector (or security personnel) to 

maintain order of meeting place. The inspector (or security officer) shall wear 

an arm-band with the word “inspector”. 
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Article 20: During the meeting, in the event of an air alarm, the meeting shall be 

suspended and the evacuation will be conducted. One hour after the alarm is 

lifted, the meeting will resume. 

Article 21: These Rules, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented after 

adoption by shareholders’ meeting. 

Article 22: This rule is made on March 26, 2003. 

The first amendment was made on June 14, 2006. 

The second amendment was made on June 13, 2017. 

The third amendment was made on May 24, 2022. 
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Appendix 2: Articles of Incorporation 
 

Phison Electronics Corporation 
Articles of Incorporation 

 

 

Chapter I General Provisions 
Article 1: The Corporation shall be incorporated, as a company limited by shares, under the 

Company Act the Republic of China, and its name shall be「群聯電子股份有限
公司」 in the Chinese language, and 「Phison Electronics Corporation」 in the 
English language. 

Article 2: The scope of business of the Corporation shall be as follows: 
(i) CC01080 Electronic Parts and Components Manufacturing  
(ii) I301010 Software Design Services  
(iii) F218010 Retail Sale of Computer Software 
(iv) F119010 Wholesale of Electronic Materials 
(v) F219010 Retail Sale of Electronic Materials 
(vi) CE01030 Photographic and Optical Equipment Manufacturing 
(vii) CC01120 Data Storage Media Manufacturing and Duplicating 
(viii) I501010 Product Designing 
(ix)F401010 International Trade 
(x) ZZ99999All business items that are not prohibited or restricted by law, except 

those that are subject to special approval. 
Article 2-1: The Company provides external guarantees for its business needs, and its 

procedures are in accordance with the Company’s Procedures for Endorsement 
and Guarantee. 

Article 2-2: The total amount of the Company’s investment shall not exceed 40 percent of its 
paid-up capital as provided in Article 13 of the Company Act. 

Article 3: The Company set up its headquarters in HsinChu County, Taiwan, the Republic of 
China and if necessary, it may set up branch offices domestically or abroad with a 
resolution by the board of directors. 

Article 4: (Deleted). 
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Chapter II Shares 
Article 5: The total capital of the company shall be in the amount of 3,000,000,000 New 

Taiwan Dollars, divided into 300,000,000 shares, at ten New Taiwan Dollars each, 
of which unissued shares is authorized to board of directors to issue in installments. 

In the first total capital, NT$290 million was reserved, and the shares were divided 
into 29 million shares at par value of NT$10 per share, which is for the issuance of 
employees’ share subscription warrants in order to exercise the subscription right. 
It shall be issued separately based on the resolution of the board of directors. 

Article 5-1: The company issues employee stock warrants, the exercise price can be lower 
than the closing price of the company stocks as of the issuing date which is 
required to obtain the consent of at least two-thirds of the voting rights 
represented at a shareholders meeting attended by shareholders representing a 
majority of the total issued shares and allowed to register multiple issues over a 
period of 1 year from the date of the shareholders’ resolution. 

Article 5-2: If the Company plans to repurchase its own shares and transfer them to employees 
at less than the average actual share repurchase price, it must have obtained the 
consent of at least two-thirds of the voting rights present at the most recent 
shareholders meeting attended by shareholders representing a majority of total 
issued shares, and must have listed the following matters in the notice of reasons 
for that shareholders meeting, it may not raise the matter by means of an 
extraordinary motion: 
1. The exercise price, the valuation percentage, the bases of calculations, and the 

reasonableness thereof. 
2. The number of shares to be transferred, the purpose, and the reasonableness 

thereof. 
3. Qualification requirements for employees subscribing to shares, and the number 

of shares they are allowed to subscribe for. 
4. Factors affecting shareholders’ equity: 

A. The expendable amount, and dilution of the company’s earnings per share. 
B. Explain what financial burden will be imposed on the company by 

transferring shares to employees at less than the average actual share 
repurchase price. 

Article 6: (Deleted). 
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Article 7: The Company’s stock are all registered share certificates and shall be signed or 
stamped by the directors who is authorized, recorded, and issued after it is legally 
registered. For the new shares to be issued by the Company offering its shares to 
the public. The Corporation may be exempted from printing any stock certificate 
for the shares issued. However, the Corporation shall appoint a centralized 
securities custody enterprise/institution to make registration of such shares. 

Article 8: The registration of stock transfer shall be halted within 60 days prior to the 
convening date of a regular shareholders’ meeting, or within 30 days prior to the 
convening date of a special shareholders’ meeting, or within 5 days prior to the 
record date fixed by the Company for distribution of dividends, bonus or other 
benefits. 
The period of the preceding paragraph shall be counted from the date of the 
meeting or the record date. 

Article 8-1: The Company’s shareholder services are performed according to “Regulations 
Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies” by 
competent authority. 

 
Chapter III Shareholders’ Meeting 
Article 9: Shareholders’ meeting can be divided into regular meetings and special meetings. 

Regular meetings are convened once a year and usually within six months of the 
end of each fiscal year. The regular meeting is convened by the board of directors 
according to the law. Special meetings may be convened according to the law when 
necessary. 
The shareholders’ meeting of the Company may be held by means of visual 
communication network or other methods promulgated by the central competent 
authority. In case a shareholders’ meeting is proceeded via visual communication 
network, the shareholders taking part in such a visual communication meeting shall 
be deemed to have attended the meeting in person. 

Article 10: If a shareholder cannot attend a Shareholders Meeting for any reason, it may 
designate another person to represent it by submitting a proxy that is printed by 
the Company, specifying the scope of authorization.  Shareholders’ attendance 
by designated representatives shall be handled in accordance with Article 177 of 
the Company Act as well as the “Regulations Governing the Use of Proxies for 
Attendance at Shareholder Meetings of Public Companies” promulgated by the 
governing authorities. 
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Article 11:  A shareholder of the Company shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, 
except in the circumstances set forth in paragraph 3, article 157 and article 179 
of the Company Act. 

Article 11-1: Shareholders’ Meeting shall be convened by the board of directors and chaired 
by the Chairman of the Board. When the Chairman of the Board is on leave, the 
Chairman shall appoint one of the directors to act as meeting Chairman, or, if 
there are no appointment, one of the directors shall be selected from among 
themselves to act as meeting Chairman.  If a shareholders’ meeting is convened 
by a rightful person outside the board of directors, the person convening the 
meeting shall chair the meeting. When there are two or more conveners, a 
meeting Chairman shall be elected between them. 

Article 12: Unless otherwise stated in the Company Act, any resolution made by the 
Shareholders Meeting shall be made during a Shareholders Meeting attended by 
more than half of all shares and passed by the majority of voting rights in 
attendance. 

 
Chapter IV: Directors and Board of directors 
 
Article 13: The Company appoints seven to eleven directors under candidates’ nomination 

system. The term of directors shall be three years. Directors are elected from the 
list of candidates and may be eligible for re-election. 
The total sum of all registered shares certificates held by all directors shall not be 
less than that as regulated in “Rules and Review Procedures for Director and 
Supervisor Share Ownership Ratios at Public Companies” from the regulatory 
authority. 

Article 13-1: In the aforementioned quota of directors of the Company, the number of 
independent directors shall be at least two and not less than one-fifth, which are 
elected from the list of candidates of independent directors in the shareholders’ 
meeting under the candidate nomination system. 
In accordance with the relevant regulations of the competent authority, the 
professional qualifications, shareholding, prohibition on positions held at other 
companies, nomination and selection process and other matters of the 
Company’s Independent Directors, are processed under relevant legal 
regulations. 
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Article 13-2: The Company has established the audit committee. Its composition, scope of 
duties and power, rules of procedure, and other compliance matters shall be in 
accordance with the relevant regulations of the competent authority. 

Article 14: The board of directors is formed by the directors. The Chairman, who is to 
represent the Company externally, is elected by a majority voting of the directors 
present at a meeting of its board of directors attended by two-thirds or more of 
the directors of the Company. 

Article 15: In case the Chairman of the board of directors is on leave or absent or cannot 
exercise his power and authority for any cause, his representative shall be selected 
according to Article 208 of the Company Act. The board of directors shall be 
convened by the Chairman of the board of directors. The conduct of the board of 
directors shall be conducted in accordance with the “Rules of Procedure for 
Meetings of Board of Directors” of the company. 
Directors should attend the board of directors in person. If the board of directors 
takes the video conference, the director’s participation in the video conference is 
regarded as personal in person. In case a director cannot attend a Board meeting 
in person, he/she may appoint another Director to attend on his/her behalf, he/she 
shall, in each time, issue a written proxy and state the scope of authority with 
reference to the subjects to be discussed at the meeting. A director may accept the 
appointment to act as the proxy referred to in the preceding Paragraph of one other 
Director only. 
The Company shall inform each Director seven days prior to a Board meeting, 
and in case of emergency, the Company may call the board of directors to a 
meeting at any time. The Company’s board of directors was convened in writing, 
e-mail, or fax method. 

Article 16: Compensations for the Chairman and directors of the Company shall be 
determined by the board of directors according the involvement and contribution 
of the Chairman and each director, with reference to the industry standards. 
The Company shall purchase liability insurance for its Directors for carrying out 
the scope of their responsibilities during the terms of office for said Directors. 

 
Chapter V Manager 
Article 17: This Company may have managers and their appointment, dismissal and 

remuneration shall be conducted in accordance with Article 29 of the Company 
Act. 
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Chapter VI Accounting 
Article 18: At the close of each fiscal year of the Company, the board of directors shall prepare, 

1) business report, 2) financial statement and 3) the surplus earning distribution or 
loss off-setting proposal, etc. subsequently submit them to the meeting of 
shareholders for its ratification. 

Article 19: If the company makes profits in the year, it shall appropriate 8% to 19% for 
employees’ compensation and no more than 1.5% for directors’ compensations, 
but the Company shall reserve a portion of profit to make up for accumulated 
losses, if any. 
Employee’s remuneration may be distributed in shares or cash, and the 
compensation of directors shall be paid in cash. 
The term “profit” as mentioned in the first paragraph refers to pre-tax profits 
before deducting the distributed employees and directors’ remuneration. 
Employee and director remuneration allocation must be approved by the board of 
directors in a meeting attended by more than two-thirds of all board members, 
where half of attending directors approve. The remuneration resolution shall be 
reported in the annual general meeting. 
Employee treasury stocks, employee stock options, new shares purchased by 
employees, employee restricted stock awards, and employee compensation shall 
be provided by the Company to controlling or subordinate employees who meet 
certain conditions. The board of directors is authorized to determine its conditions 
and allocation method. 

Article 19-1: The annual earnings in the financial statements of the Company shall first be 
allocated to pay income tax and offset the accumulated losses of the preceding 
years before allocating 10% of the remaining earnings to the legal reserve, 
which is not applicable where the legal reserve has reached the total paid-in 
capital of the Company.  In accordance with law or the competent authority, 
the Company shall also appropriate or reverse special reserves. With regard to 
the earnings and accumulated undistributed earnings, the Board of Directors 
shall submit an earnings distribution proposal to distribute dividends to 
shareholders, subject to the approval at the shareholders’ meeting. 
Where the above earnings, legal reserves, and capital reserves are distributed in 
cash, the Board of Directors is authorized to approve the distribution by a 
resolution approved by a majority vote at a meeting attended by over two-thirds 
of the Directors and report to the shareholders’ meeting. Where they are 
distributed by issuing new shares, it shall be resolved at the shareholders’ 
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meeting. 
Profit distribution or loss appropriation of the Company may be made upon the 
conclusion of every half fiscal year. When distributing earnings, the Company 
shall first estimate and retain the tax to be made, offset the accumulated losses, 
estimate and retain the employees’ and directors’ remuneration pursuant to 
paragraph, Article 19, before allocating 10% of the remaining earnings to the 
legal reserve, which is not applicable where the legal reserve has reached the 
total paid-in capital of the Company. In accordance with law or the competent 
authority, the Company shall also appropriate or reverse special reserves. With 
regard to the earnings and accumulated undistributed earnings, the Board of 
Directors shall submit an earnings distribution proposal. Where the earnings are 
distributed in cash, the Board of Directors is authorized to approve the 
distribution by a resolution approved by a majority vote at a meeting attended 
by over two-thirds of the Directors and report to the shareholders’ meeting. 
Where they are distributed by issuing new shares, it shall be resolved at the 
shareholders’ meeting. 
The Company’s dividend policy complies with the laws and regulations and the 
Articles of Incorporation, takes into account the current and future competitions 
of the Company with domestic and foreign companies, investment environment, 
capital demand, capital budget, and shareholders’ interests, striking a balance 
between dividends and the long-term financial planning of the Company, so as 
to foster sustainable operation and stable development.  The dividend 
distribution of the shareholders of the Company can be distributed in cash 
dividends or share dividends, in which the proportion of shareholders’ cash 
dividend distribution shall be no less than 10% of the total dividends of the 
shareholders. 

 
Chapter VII Supplementary Provisions 
Article 20: Any matters not prescribed in the Articles, if any, shall be conducted in accordance 

with the provisions of the Company Act. 
Article 21: The Articles were established on October 24, 2000. 

The first amendment was made on November 21, 2000. 
The second amendment was made on September 5, 2001. 
The third amendment was made on February 15, 2002. 
The fourth amendment was made on April 9, 2002. 
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The fifth amendment was made on June 25, 2002. 
The sixth amendment was made on March 26, 2003. 
The seventh amendment was made on November 12, 2003. 
The eighth amendment was made on June 15, 2004. 
The ninth amendment was made on March 17, 2005. 
The tenth amendment was made on June 16, 2005. 
The eleventh amendment was made on June 14, 2006. 
The twelfth amendment was made on November 1, 2006. 
The thirteenth amendment was made on June 13, 2007. 
The fourteenth amendment was made on June 13, 2008. 
The fifteenth amendment was made on May 8, 2009. 
The sixteenth amendment was made on June 15, 2010. 
The seventeenth amendment was made on June 15, 2011. 
The eighteenth amendment was made on June 11, 2013. 
The nineteenth amendment was made on June 17, 2014. 
The twentieth amendment was made on June 2, 2015. 
The twenty-first amendment was made on June 15, 2016. 
The twenty-second amendment was made on June 13, 2017. 
The twenty-third amendment was made on June 12, 2019. 
The twenty-four amendment was made on June 3, 2020. 
The twenty-fifth amendment was made on July 26, 2021. 
The twenty-sixth amendment was made on May 24, 2022. 
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Appendix 3: Shareholdings of ALL Directors 
 

Phison Electronics Corporation 
Shareholdings of ALL Directors 

 
1. The statutory shareholding of directors of the Company is as follows: 

Types and total number of shares issued by the Company: 206,566,328 common shares. 
Statutory minimum number of shares held by all directors is 12,000,000 shares. 
As the Company has established the Audit Committee, statutory shares held by 
supervisors are not applicable. 

2. As of March 29, 2025, the book closure date of the annual shareholders’ meeting, the 
number of shares held by all directors: 
 

Record date: March 29, 2025 

Position Name 
Current 

shareholding 
(shares) 

Representative 

Chairman Cheng He Investment Co., Ltd 2,403,000 Wee Kuan Gan 

Director Tzung Horng Kuang 1,449,736  

Director Jiunn Yeong Yang 4,549,114  

Director KIOXIA Corporation 19,821,112 Hiroshi 
Miyauchi 

Director Cheng Shuo Investment 
Limited 1,223,000 Chiu An Chuang 

Director Chih Jen Hsu 1,040,301  

Independent Director Huei Ming Wang 0  

Independent Director Chen Wei Wang 0  

Independent Director Yu Lun Huang  0  

Number of shares actually held by all directors 30,486,263  

Shareholding ratio of total issued shares (%) 14.76  
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